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ij@ #all Hill dwelling house is ;\two—story Georgian
ure covered by a hipped roof from which project two

square interior chimney stacks.' The outside dimensions of the
house are approximately 56' X U40'. The walls are laid in
randomly glazed Flemish bond throughout and have no decorative
features such as belt courses, water table or rubbed dressings.
A1l four walls have been painted but the paint has been allowed
to weather off, giving the walls a mellow texture. Because of
an extensive remodelling undertaken around }830, the walls, roof
and chimneys are the only original exterior architectural
features. All the-sash, doors, window and door frames were
replaced with simple mid-nineteenth century work. As part of
the remodelling the window openings in the two end bays of the
five-bay west front were bricked up on both stories, as were
the openings on both stories of the south bay of the five-bay
east front. For the rest of the windows, the sizes of the
openings were not changed, and in typical Georgian fashion,the
second floor openings are reduced proportionally in relation to
the first floor openings. Irregularities in the brickwork
above all the openings suggest that the windows originally were
topped by either segmental or splayed-brick flat arches but
no trace of any survives. The simple Doric porches on the west
front and south end date from the ninéteenth century, and a
larger porch of similar style on the east front was removed in
recent years. The frame service wing on the north end is a
nineteenth century addition. .

Fall Hill's plan consists of a central hall with two large
rooms on either side. A small vestibule serving the south"
entrance is situated on the south side of the chimney between
the southeast and southwest rooms. The space ¢orresponding to
this vestibule on the opposite side of the chimney contains
the present basement stairs. The.main stair is located near the
east end of the hall on the north side. Family tradition has
it that the original stair was located in the northwest room,
now used as a dining room. The present stair is claimed to
have been removed from an old house in Middlesex County, but its
round handrail and plain balusters make it stylistically
contemporary with the 1830's remodelling. All other original
first floor woodwork was removed in the remodelling as well,
and was replaced with simple Greek Revival trim featuring the
typical turned corner blocks in the windows and doorways. The
northwest and southwest rooms were outfitted with Greek Revival
mantels, but they recently were removed to expose the original
segmental fireplace openings. A black with gold vein marble
mantel in Greek Revival style remains in the southeast room or
library. Some original eighteenth century woodwork survives on
the second floor such as simple beaded baseboard, door frames,
and doors. Each of the half-dozen or so original doors have
six beveled panels in the "Cross-and-Bible" pattern. What is

claimed to be an original mantel survives in the southwest
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bedroom, and is the late-eighteenth century Adam style with
punch-and-dentil cornice and reeded pilasters. The remaining
second floor bedrooms have nineteenth century mantels. The
house's attic space is accessible and in it can be seen the very
impressive original framing of th&x hipped rooxx

Throughout the house there are many family furnishings in-
cluding a Chippendale R<Fdericksburg side chair and a signed
(I. Wire) Windsor chair,>both of which are original Thornton
family pieces. Also there is an unusually fine collection of
Chinese art objects assembled by the present owner.

The house is set in a handsome park containing many old
trees in a variety of species. With its boxwood walks, gravel
lanes, and ivybeds, the park exudes a feeling of great antiquity
Immediately to the west of the house 1s a steep terraced hillsids
from which one obtains a panoramic view of Fredericksburg and ths
Rappahannock Valley. Two contemporary outbuildings, a brick
kitchen (now in ruins) and a brick schoolhouse, are located near
the house, To the north of the house, at the foot of the hill,
i1s the Rappahannock River and adjacent canal.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

/Féll Hill is the home of the Thorntons, one of Virginia's
distinguished Colonial families. The land on which this hill-
top plantation was established i1s belleved to have been included
in the 8000 acres in Spotsylvania County patented by Francis
Thornton I (1657-1727) around 1720.¥ The Thornton's earliest
house in the area was The Falls,a plantation located at the
foot of Fall Hill, now within the present town limits of
Fredericksburg. The Falls probably was erected by Francis
Thornton II (1682-1751), who established a grist mill on the
Rappahannock about a half-mile from The Falls house. There is
a family tradition that Francis Thornton III (1711-1749)
built a house at Fall Hill to escape the summer heat of their
low=1lying house The Falls. The fact that he lived there at
least part-time is supported by the will of Ruben Thornton
which refers to his brother, Francis Thornton III as being of
Fall Hill. There is no evidence to indicate that a house of
the mid-eighteenth century period is incorporated in the present
mansion, however.

Francis Thornton III is probably the most noted member of
the family. He married Frances Gregory, daughter of Mildred
Washington Gregory, aunt and godmother of George Washington.
He served as a burgess, a trustee of the town of Fredericksburg,
and Colonel of the Spotsylvania militia. Colonel Thornton's
son, Francis Thornton IV (1737-1794) inherited the Fall Hill
lands from his father in 1749, but continued to make his
principle residence at The Falls. Francis Thornton IV married
Anne Thompson, daughter of Madame Butler-Brayne Spotswood
Thompson by her second marriage to the Reverend John Thompson.

Francis Thornton V (1760-1836), son of Francis Thornton IV|
is believed to have erected the present mansion at Fall Hill,
probably around the time of his marriage to Sally Innes in 1790
Architectural evidence confirms such a construction date as the
house is of the more refined late-Georgian style of the late-
eighteenth century. Francis Thornton V served as a Justice of
the Peace of Spotsylvania County and was referred to in the
county records as being of Fall Hill. His son, Francis Thornton
VI (1796-1881), was a Presbyterian minister and moved to

Kentucky in 1845. Francis Thornton V died in 1836 without a




Hlstory Summary of Fall Hill by Butler~Brayne Thornton

Franklin (unpublished mms. in archives of Virginia
Historic Landmarks Commission.)

Reserach Report by Mrs. John Peters in archives of Vlrglnla
Historic Landmarks Commission.
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will and Fall Hill was tended by family slaves until the estate
was settled. Nine years later, in 1845, the estate was deeded to
Doctor John Roberts Taylor, husband of Bessie Forbes, daughter of
Francis Thornton V's daughter, Sally Innes Thornton Forbes of
Falmouth. The extensive alteration of Fall Hill in the late 1840
was undertaken at the direction of Doctor Taylor.

N Fall Hill was a strategic point during the Fredericksburg
Campaign. General Lee established a breastwork at the foot of ths
hill to guard the river crossingf\ At one point Lee approached
Doctor Taylor and informed him that the house was in the line of
fire and could not be saved, and to remove his family and
possessions. Fortunately a shift in action spared the house from
damage.

In 1870 the Taylors were reunited with the Thorntons through
the marriage of Doctor Taylor's son, Murray Forbes Taylor, to
Butler-Brayne Thornton, a descendent of Francis Thornton V.
Taylor and his bride lived with Doctor Taylor at Fall Hill from
1875 to 1877 when they moved to California where Taylor managed
the estate of Mrs. Phoebe Hearst at San Simeon. Doctor Taylor
died in 1885, and his son Richard sold Fall Hill out of the family
Murray Forbes Taylor retired in 1908, and Mrs. Hearst, in
appreciation for his fifteen years of service acquired Fall Hill
as a gift for Taylor. Mrs. Hearst was a close friend of Taylor's
wife, and suggested that Fall Hill be left to her granddaughter
and namesake. In accordance with Mrs. Hearst's wish Fall Hill is
owned today by Butler-Brayne Thornton Robinson Franklin.
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